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Business, Politics, and Patriotism: Relationships Between 
Antonio López de Santa Anna and Foreign Nationals in 
Mexico, 1829–1847

Julio C. Farías and Jason Miklian

ABSTRACT
Antonio López de Santa Anna is one of the most well-known yet misun-
derstood figures in North American history. His periods of rule in the 
mid-nineteenth century helped bring Mexico its independence, lost 
Mexico nearly half of its territory, and shaped its future conceptions of 
what a leader is and should be. He is often remembered as a simple 
caudillo, a strongman who built relationships with foreign actors for per-
sonal gain. But how does this perception compare to the evidence of 
such interactions, and how can Santa Anna’s relationships with foreigners 
help us better understand Mexican history? This article critically assesses 
Santa Anna’s key personal and diplomatic relationships with foreigners 
during the formative 1829–1847 period to improve our understanding of 
Santa Anna’s relationship to and impact upon Mexico, and explore their 
influence upon Mexico’s international relations. We then offer a conclud-
ing assessment of the lasting implications of these relationships, incorpo-
rating how his caudillo leadership style carried a significant influence 
upon Mexico’s legacy of its nation-building endeavor.

Introduction: Mexican leaders as interlocutors for foreigners

Relations between Mexico and foreign countries at the beginning of the nineteenth century have 
been assiduously studied by historians and political scientists. Literature focuses on diplomatic 
and economic relations with Spain, the United States, Great Britain and France: with Spain due 
to its previous-colony relationship and attempts to reconquer; with the United States for its 
North American ambitions and invasion, with Great Britain for emphasis on the commercial 
aspect and political influence of its consuls and ministers, and France for commercial relation-
ships and invasions. Mexico’s problems with Texas carry an abundant bibliography, while Mexico’s 
relationships with Latin America are comparatively under-explored. Broadly, the historiography of 
Mexico’s international relations emphasizes the formal diplomacy and institutional channels that 
existed between countries through treaties, meetings between ministers, and official channels, 
focusing less on informal issues and influential figures connecting with Mexican decision-makers. 
Therefore, it may be valuable to investigate the social networks that foreign ministers formed in 
Mexico and how they served to achieve the objectives of their countries.1

Many of the Europeans and Americans who arrived in Mexico related to Mexican politicians 
from an imperialist, racist perspective, considering Mexico a curious and peculiar territory and 
their habitants inferior. Yet, certain travelers managed to dismantle these prejudices, and many 
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of those (including diplomatic reports and memories of USA, British and Spanish envoys) saw 
one man of particular merit as intelligent, shrewd and capable: Antonio López de Santa Anna. 
Envoys sought out Santa Anna to influence Mexican politics, obtain commercial perks, and/or 
attempt to manipulate him for their country’s interests and their own. This attitude was recipro-
cal. Santa Anna also used stratagems in his contacts with the military and representatives of 
other countries to improve the negotiating conditions of his government or himself. As we will 
see, Santa Anna’s actions went beyond his own interests in private talks in the interests of nation-
alism and even mutual defense.2

However, a comprehensive study has not yet been undertaken on how these relationships 
informed Mexico’s international relations: When and why did these characters become interlocu-
tors for foreigners? Were they doing it on their own initiative or were they approached by min-
isters or merchants from other countries because of their local or national influence? Did they 
relate directly to the representatives of other countries in the event of becoming president or did 
they prefer to send specialized officials? The biographies or works that have been published on 
Mexican leaders of the time such as Anastasio Bustamante, Manuel Gómez Pedraza, and Antonio 
López de Santa Anna address little on these actions; even as significant contact with European 
and American ministers, merchants, consuls and adventurers is known. Revisiting key documents 
from this perspective can provide new insights on these influences, and this article attempts a 
first exercise for such.3

The Caudillo’s vision

The focus of our article is Antonio López de Santa Anna, one of the most consequential yet 
misunderstood figures in North American history. He was famous for his military victories, polit-
ical maneuvering, freedom fighter role, and uniting factions during the decades after Mexico’s 
independence in an attempt to bring stability and greatness to the new nation. He was Mexico’s 
leader at six different times from 1833 to 1855. Yet his posthumous period has been character-
ized by disgrace and obscurity. Santa Anna’s complicated, contradictory nature manifested over 
periods of presidential then dictatorial rule, banishment, and return – encouraging competing 
narratives to take shape about his legacy. In this article, we explore a formative period of Mexico’s 
creation to show how foreign contemporaries understood Santa Anna, shaping Mexico’s early 
foreign policy trajectory. Through previously under-explored archival material, we critically assess 
Santa Anna’s key personal and diplomatic relationships with foreigners during the formative 
1829–1847 period to improve our understanding of Santa Anna’s relationship to and impact 
upon Mexico, and explore their influence upon Mexico’s international relations.

Santa Anna was a prominent early representative of Latin American caudillismo. A caudillo 
refers to a figure with great political and societal influence within a region or country. These 
individuals emerge and persist when democratic institutions are non-existent, incipient, or weak. 
After the independence of many Latin American republics, in the absence of other well-organized 
groups, power often fell into the hands of the military and the landed gentry as consolidated by 
a caudillo. A caudillo regime is both personalistic and quasi-military, its center is a charismatic 
leader supported by his coterie of collaborators and great popular following. It’s often employed 
interchangeably to related terms like ‘strongman’ or ‘dictator’, yet although a caudillo could 
become despotic, despotism or employing overt oppression is not a necessary characteristic. Like 
other Latin American countries, Mexico’s history has been deeply shaped by the caudillos that 
have ruled it. Such imprints are greatest in times of disorder and institutional destruction, as in 
Mexico after the long war for independence and rebellions in its early years as a sovereign state. 
Therefore, a study of Santa Anna as caudillo can add nuance into how his priorities shaped the 
country. While caudillo study typically focuses upon leaders in Latin America, examples exist else-
where. One such case is in the multi-decade rule of Singapore’s Lee Kwan Yew, a ‘benevolent 
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dictator’ with a strong personal following whose personal priorities shaped Singapore’s lasting 
legacy.4

While charisma or territorial conquest can lead a populace to support a caudillo’s ascent to 
power, other characteristics are needed to stay in power. Here lies one characteristic of Santa 
Anna’s repeated rises to power then falls from grace. Santa Anna possessed strong ascent char-
acteristics: he knew how to impose his authority and make himself loved by citizens. Santa Anna 
knew the need to win allies, to obtain unconditional followers, and benefactors who he could 
leverage. However, his governance abilities were weak, punctuated in a lack of interest in the 
day-to-day aspects of government and a penchant for personal ostentation. Santa Anna saw mil-
itary victories necessary to stay afloat, lending him a magnetic and almost supernatural aura, an 
individual who could achieve any task.5

As Santa Anna became a main figure of independent Mexico, he transcended other politicians 
and military figures through his bravery in critical battles, the perceived impartiality of his nation-
alism and patriotism, and the trust of those who wanted to use his prestige to govern through 
him. Important contemporaries such as José María Tornel, José María Bocanegra, Lucas Alamán, 
Valentín Gómez Farías, Vicente Guerrero, and Guadalupe Victoria supported Santa Anna, cement-
ing his rise to power. Despite his limited formal education, Santa Anna carried an eloquence and 
sharpness in speech that encouraged comparisons to a ‘gentleman’ or ‘philosopher’. But when 
military victories were not imminent, Santa Anna’s interest in leadership waned, and with it his 
popularity. During these times, he sought out new allies to maintain and grow power.6

This raises a key question: how did Santa Anna’s foreign allegiances and personal interactions 
shape what Mexico became in its formative generation? Due to a lack of primary material 
(American troops destroyed Santa Anna’s writings when they sacked his Veracruz hacienda in 
1847), few in-depth studies from such engagements exist. Independent accounts of those who 
interacted with Santa Anna can help fill this gap, noting that such accounts are often written 
post facto and tailored to suit the author’s needs. Writings by Ramón Gamboa, Carlos María de 
Bustamante, José María Roa Bárcena, and Ramón Alcaraz after Santa Anna’s fall in 1847 paint the 
picture of a self-centered and corrupt buffoon, laying the blame for country’s bifurcation at his 
feet. Santa Anna’s return to power as dictator cemented this perception, as his nationalist dem-
ocratic motivations before Mexico’s fall to the United States and loss of Texas and California are 
often analyzed through the lens of the cynical dictator that he became afterwards, not of the 
person he was before his greatest failure.7

To better decipher how Santa Anna influenced the trajectory of Mexican foreign policy during 
Mexico’s first wave of independence, we assessed his interactions with foreign individuals who gave 
external assessments through direct interaction during key moments of his ascent and early rule. 
Many of these relationships have not been extensively explored, perhaps due to varied source lan-
guages or difficulty of triangulation. Santa Anna impressed most of these foreigners, even when 
their engagement was purely as an instrument of their governments’ geopolitical interests and 
Santa Anna was a barrier to those interests. These sources, including Richar Pakenham, R. Bankhead, 
Ángel Calderón de la Barca, and Salvador Bermúdez de Castro, established relationships based on 
respect for British and Spanish interests, respectively, and possible advantages they could obtain. 
These interactions enable us to assess intent, motivation, and strategy, through Santa Anna’s own 
words. By focusing on such actors and other elites (e.g. diplomats, envoys, and businessmen), we 
discuss the merit of Santa Anna’s state-building motivations.8

We find that Santa Anna’s actions were perceived by foreign observers to be more driven by 
nationalism and support of democracy than has been commonly assumed. Santa Anna’s skills 
evolved in sophistication from 1821 to 1847, from naive relationship building to attempts to 
leverage and extract favors for the country and himself. However, Santa Anna’s caudillo nature 
added risk to the country’s foreign policy trajectory. As Santa Anna inextricably linked the coun-
try’s fate with his own, he eschewed diplomatic overtures in favor of those that prioritized his 
interests and abilities (like military battles), or those that carried a moral component (like Santa 
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Anna’s distaste for slavery). For example, while a more diplomatic leader might have been able 
to secure a smaller annexation agreement from the United States to prevent the Mexican-American 
War, Santa Annás perception of Mexican territory emanated from his own experiences as every 
part of Mexico integral to both the state and his own legacy. Although most all Mexican leaders 
of the time considered the territorial ambitions of the United States and the independence of 
Texas illegitimate, Santa Anna was one of the few who fought for these principles. Our assess-
ment of Santa Anna’s role in Mexico’s early independence period encourages a more nuanced 
understanding of the breadth and depth of Santa Anna’s motivations and degree of patriotism.

This study started with a literature review and source search, beginning with the British 
Foreign Office document set. Our analysis of Mexican archives (e.g. Archivo General de la Nación, 
Centro de Estudios Historia de México Fundación Carlos Slim, Capilla Alfonsina de la Universidad 
Autónoma de Nuevo León, Patrimonio Cultural del Tecnológico de Monterrey, Hemeroteca 
Nacional de México) unearthed hundreds of documents that discussed relationships between 
Santa Anna and foreigners. Given difficult access to certain primary sources in their original 
repositories (e.g. archives in Spain and Cuba), we prioritized documents on nineteenth century 
Spain-Mexico relations. These publications contain many documents that have not been used 
previously to our knowledge for analysis of Santa Anna’s political trajectory or foreign relations. 
Valuable data was also sourced from personal accounts, for example the little-known diary of 
Ambassador Ángel Calderón de la Barca, husband of the more famous Fanny Calderón de la 
Barca, and the diplomatic correspondence of Salvador Bermúdez de Castro.

Some books from that era, for example those by statesman and historian Carlos María de 
Bustamante, also mention episodes in which Santa Anna encounters English or Spanish individ-
uals. These provide fragmented information that we complement with other sources, constituting 
our primary triangulation efforts. The importance of Santa Anna is corroborated by his appear-
ance in almost all the testimonies of travelers, merchants, diplomats, and foreign invaders of his 
time. Thus, we reviewed diaries, letters, and travel accounts from a large number of individuals 
who visited Mexico, many of which are translated into Spanish or English. Undoubtedly, there 
remain many undiscovered or unused documents across Latin America and Europe that may 
further refine our understanding of his character.

We also assessed a wide range of diplomatic reports, autobiographies, historical accounts, 
institutional archives, travelogues, and military reports. We drew on sources from the United 
States and Britain housed at national archives and libraries specializing in Mexico materials from 
the early to mid nineteenth century, such as the Bancroft Library (UC Berkeley) and Texas State 
Archives. We also examined correspondence and dispatches from Spanish plenipotenciary minis-
ters in Mexico, as well as letters from Prussian commercial envoys. The Spanish diplomatic corre-
spondence gave us insights into previously unknown details, both direct and indirect, of Santa 
Anna’s actions at critical moments in Mexican history.

We present our findings with a focus on four time periods: (1) the 1821–1823 period of first 
substantial contact between Santa Anna and foreign figures; (2) the 1828–1833 period where Santa 
Anna learned how to establish diplomatic relationships with foreigners; (3) the 1839–1842 period 
when such relationships were tested and expanded; and (4) the 1845–1847 period when Santa 
Anna leveraged these relationships politically in the midst of an existential war. These periods were 
selected as they represented key engagements with Santa Anna at points of national importance 
and strategic shift. We then offer a brief concluding assessment of the lasting implications of these 
relationships, and how caudillo leadership influenced Mexico’s legacy of its nation building endeavor.

Searching for a space: Santa Anna and the Spanish world: 1821–1823

Santa Anna came from a typical background for a Mexican political leader from the first half of 
the nineteenth century. Without large family fortunes or lineage surnames, dozens of criollos took 
advantage of their military positions to gain experience and influence, quickly rising to important 
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military and political roles upon the departure of thousands of Spanish officials from Mexico. 
Santa Anna had a simple middle-class upbringing in the bustling port town of Veracruz, with a 
nondescript childhood that displayed little promise. Santa Anna’s father didn’t think his son capa-
ble of anything more than taking over the family grocery store. Santa Anna rebelled at the 
thought, and at fourteen years old he left home and enlisted under the local command of 
General José Garcia Dávila in 1811. Dávila saw that Santa Anna’s passion and natural instincts 
could be molded into an exceptional soldier.9

Two months later, unrest sent Santa Anna to the frontier territory of Tejas. He spent a decade 
fighting threats to the Spanish Crown including Comanches, Anglos, Mexican insurgents, and 
French gangs. Santa Anna foiled Texas’ first independence attempt; his subordinates started his 
legend with tales of him killing three men with a gun in one hand, riding horseback as an arrow 
pierced his other. He built houses and churches as citizens became loyal to neither Spain nor the 
insurgency, but to Santa Anna as he led a counter-insurgency to reclaim New Spain’s dominion. 
He developed an affinity for the northern province, saying that its beauty ‘surpasses all descrip-
tion.one of the loveliest arrays that can be observed in the heavens’.10

But Santa Anna, and criollos in general, had a ‘paradoxical and paradigmatic hostile affection’ 
towards Spain. Santa Anna’s affinities related to his family’s social class contrasted with the ceiling 
that Spain imposed to prevent his social ascent, as only soldiers born in Spain could ascend to the 
army’s upper echelons. Establishing friendly ties with Spaniards depended on their attitude towards 
Spanish rule, so Santa Anna married Inés de la Paz García, the daughter of wealthy Spaniards, to 
prove his loyalty. Navigating these overlapping worlds taught Santa Anna a sense of opportunity. 
He understood that alliances allowed for the consolidation of personal ascension, and relationships 
with external agents (diplomats, military officials, traders, scientists, travelers) could bring wealth 
and prestige, and perhaps help external recognition of Mexico as an independent nation.11

In December 1822, Santa Anna rose up in arms against Spanish Emperor of Mexico Iturbide, 
with whom he already had a strained relationship. He exploited the arrival of a Spanish negoti-
ation commission and in his first diplomatic act emerged as the Mexican government interlocu-
tor. Unlike other insurgents, Santa Anna did not revolt because of ‘Hispanophobia’. Santa Anna 
explained that he rebelled against Iturbide for his tyranny and to re-establish the Mexican 
Congress. He made generous offers to the commission, including an alliance with Spain and 
respect of Spanish people and property. Santa Anna also exploited the economic benefits offered 
by such circumstances. He Santa Anna sought to win the sympathy of both ‘paisanos and 
Peninsulares’ (Mexican-born and Spanish-born individuals) by allowing trade, while Iturbide pro-
hibited it. Santa Anna played a profitable middle-man in these transitions, funding what became 
his hacienda in Veracruz.12

Santa Anna learned that treating allegiances as fluid had personal and political benefits, as 
when humoring foreigners. For example, in 1823 English naturalist William Bullock docked in 
Veracruz. Bullock saw Santa Anna ‘on horseback, in splendid military costume, and well mounted, 
but the troops they were reviewing did not make a very military appearance, being…most of 
them Indians or of Indian extraction’. Expecting friendly New Spain royalists but landing in hostile 
now-independent Mexico, Bullock asked Santa Anna for an audience. While deportation would 
have been standard practice, Santa Anna secured Bullock safe passage and passports to Jalapa. 
Santa Anna saw the benefits of Bullock’s friendship, even if it didn’t bring immediate advantages. 
A good impression would show the British that Santa Anna could play the role of statesman, and 
encourage other foreigners to turn to him for favors.13

While Santa Anna’s interactions with foreigners were limited during this period, there is con-
sistency in his engagements with Europeans that passed through his domain, marked by a will-
ingness to work with friends and enemies, to consider future value in working diplomatically 
with influential persons, and in expanding beyond a solider persona by acting not like a tactician 
but in how he thought a diplomat might approach a situation. The success of these overtures in 
terms of financial and prestige gains made an indelible mark on Santa Anna’s forward strategies.
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Rebuilding acquaintances: Santa Anna and the Spaniards 1827–1830

By the late 1820s, hostility towards foreigners of all kinds grew in Mexico, in both elite circles 
and popular sentiment. Santa Anna, and criollos in general, had a ‘paradoxical and paradigmatic 
hostile affection’ towards Spain particularly.14 An 1827 law expelling all Spaniards typified this 
groundswell, exacerbated by overtures that European powers made to claim the fragile country. 
Santa Anna, now governor of Veracruz, cautiously applied this law, at times deporting those he 
cultivated relationships with, such as major merchants. While Santa Anna’s uprising in 1828 to 
place Vicente Guerrero as rightful president was not anti-foreigner in nature, many of his follow-
ers adopted anti-foreign sentiments to gain support. Although Santa Anna’s Perote pronounce-
ment contained a clause requesting Congress to expel Spaniards from the country as the source 
of Mexican evils, Santa Anna applied this clause judiciously to gain greater support.15

Santa Anna’s ambiguous relationship with the Spaniards swung between great shows of con-
fidence, friendship, and loyalty, to deceit and extortion. For example, he defended the crown’s 
cause against the insurgents; defended Spanish friends and acquaintances when they promul-
gated the expulsion laws against that community; expressed courtesy towards Barradas’ invading 
army; and developed close relationships with plenipotentiary ministers Pedro Pascual and 
Bermúdez de Castro. However, Barradas’ attempt to reconquer Mexico in 1829 ruptured Spain’s 
reputation in Santa Anna’s eyes. The invaders landed in Tampico and faced Santa Anna’s army. 
During the campaign, the parties exchanged messages and negotiated ceasefires. José Miguel 
Salomón, a Spanish colonel defending the port of Tampico, narrates a meeting with Santa Anna:

Accompanied by D. Eugenio Aviraneta, political secretary of the division, we had an interview with the 
dissident general D. Antonio López de Santana (sic). My demand was limited to requesting a suspension of 
hostilities for a few hours with the objective indicated above (which was to care for the sick and wounded 
and wait for the arrival of Isidro Barradas). Santa Anna wanted us to capitulate on the basis that we would 
be taken to Havana at the government’s expense with weapons and luggage. He was answered with arro-
gance that we had enough strength and provisions to resist his forces for twenty days and that first we 
would follow the example of Sagunto and Numancia, burying ourselves under the ruins rather than surren-
dering our weapons. Seeing this constancy, the enemy general evaded the question and tried another one 
on political points, and a greater plan that was reduced to having an interview with Your Honor, for which 
the political secretary would go with an assistant from Santa Anna to the General Headquarters of Altamira, 
suspending himself. meanwhile all hostility until the resolution of Your Honor (Barradas).16

According to Salomon’s testimony, Santa Anna behaved with arrogance towards the invaders 
and with a blind confidence in achieving victory, typical of military commanders. When they met, 
Barradas found Santa Anna ‘so satisfied that he boasted about my destruction and that of the 
entire division’, but ‘succumbed to the detriment of his opinion and prestige’ when he left and 
crossed a river at full speed to escape. From the Spanish side, the contents of the conference 
between Santa Anna and Barradas were unknown, only that Santa Anna ‘crossed the river again 
and then entered into negotiations’, as Spanish witness Francisco Mancha mentioned in an inter-
rogation. The promise was a stratagem to escape from Barradas and buy time illustrated by 
Barradas expecting Santa Anna to provide details on how Mexican soldiers would join the 
Spaniards, while Santa Anna’s subsequent letter only questioned Barradas’ military honor. Santa 
Anna later revealed that Barradas’ forces were much larger than his, so Barradas’ call for a truce 
unimaginably benefited his situation.17 Such a strategy of deceitful ambiguity served Santa Anna 
throughout his political and military career. We must reflect carefully, since military reports typi-
cally show the good performance of whoever writes them. Regardless, Santa Anna sought to be 
a direct interlocutor with enemy representatives, even at risk of capture.18

Over time, the invading army’s losses due to disease became too great to bear, so Barradas 
requested a truce. Santa Anna wrote back with a luster intended to please Mexico City and show 
superiority to the Spanish, using patriotic rhetoric to threaten Barradas with an elegantly stated 
but nonetheless unequivocal destruction should he continue to resist:19
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…and I, General, have had the great honor that my government has placed me at the head of numerous 
legions of brave men, to avenge in a single day so many outrages, making victims of those who daringly 
committed such an unjust aggression. Fulfilling such dear and precise duties, I have blockaded Your 
Excellency on all sides, cut off all assistance, covered the coasts from any new attempt, and can barely 
contain the ardor of my numerous divisions, which will hurl themselves upon your camp without giving 
quarter to any, if Your Excellency does not surrender unconditionally to avoid such evident misfortune…20

When Barradas replied proposing to find a solution that would not degrade Spanish pride, 
Santa Anna positioned himself as the only thing stopping his annihilation:

If it were not for the strict orders from my government that I have received, which do not allow any other 
alternative but to completely destroy Your Lordship with the forces of my arms, leaving not a single individ-
ual, or to force you to surrender under a strict deadline, submitting to Mexican generosity.21

The Spanish realized that Santa Anna’s army was superior and left Tampico. By securing Spain’s 
complete withdrawal without massacre, Santa Anna showed his strategic acumen and nationalis-
tic bona fides while avoiding violent actions that would sever future ties with the Spanish. The 
public cheered Santa Anna as Mexico’s savior, as he succeeded within military rules, minimum 
expenditure of resources, and maximizing the patriotism of himself and his troops, adding 
needed military weight to the legitimacy of infant Mexico.22

The victory fomented other positive relationships, as Santa Anna was now considered a rising 
player in North American politics. In his account of his time in Mexico, Prussia Consul General 
Carl Wilhelm Koppe was convinced that ‘the great skill, performance and daring’ of Santa Anna 
defeated Barradas. He also noted how Santa Anna’s charisma drew not just Mexicans but foreign-
ers to fight for him, signaling out a ‘Rhenish compatriot’ from Bonn who defected and became 
a lieutenant for Santa Anna. He met Santa Anna and ‘this general moved him to the point that 
he decided to offer his services, which were immediately accepted’. For Santa Anna, hiring an 
officer with education and technical knowledge from the military giant Prussia constituted a 
major stamp of international legitimacy.23

Santa Anna also cultivated elite business networks. One was C.C. Becher, subdirector of the 
Renano-Indooccidental Company. He was captivated by Santa Anna’s manners: ‘his whole being 
has something of softness and seduction’. During their meeting in 1832, at the start of Santa 
Anna’s rebellion against Bustamante, he charmed Becher with European affairs knowledge, then 
offered an escort to the frontlines. Becker noted how Santa Anna allied himself with national and 
foreign advisors, including a ‘Rhenish compatriot’ who was now a ‘personal friend’ of Santa Anna 
and in charge of an artillery brigade. Becher observed that foreigners who served Santa Anna 
‘come from all nations’, including French artillery and engineering officers of great ability.24

As Santa Anna expanded his understandings of worldly engagements, a natural diplomat 
within grew. He employed foreigners in his battles, business dealings, and as host of Mexico. He 
joined the Yorkino sect of the Freemasons, a powerful organization including most North 
American business leaders and politicians as members. He carried a pragmatism befitting a 
benevolent interpretation of a caudillo: the Prussians and Frenchmen he hired had knowledge 
that could decide a battle for Mexico: artillery. It also illuminates a little explored theme in 
Mexican historiography: the role that foreigners (including but in addition to John Riley) played 
in the Mexican armies of the first half of the nineteenth century.25

Santa Anna testes new relationships: 1836–1842

Propelled into leadership in 1833, Santa Anna tired quickly of politics and became an absentee 
president. Anglo insurgents in Texas seized upon this and published a Declaration of Independence, 
proclaiming: ‘The legislature shall have no power to pass laws for the emancipation of slaves; (n)
or shall Congress have power to emancipate slaves; nor shall any slave-holder be allowed to 
emancipate his or her slave or slaves’. Texian leader Stephen F. Austin then captured Santa Anna’s 
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close relative in early 1836 at a small fort outside Bexar called the Alamo. Provoked by these 
events, Santa Anna laid siege to the Alamo and Goliad, executed the insurgents for being ille-
gally armed, and freed their slaves and his brother. Santa Anna believed the anglos incapable of 
respecting Mexican law, a lesson he drew upon often as his caudillo nature grew:26

I threw up my cap for liberty with great ardor and perfect sincerity, but soon found the folly of it. For 
100 years to come (Texan insurgents) will not be fit for liberty. Despotism is the proper government for 
them, but there is no reason why it should not be a wise and virtuous one.27

Santa Anna cornered insurgent leader Sam Houston in a marsh after the Alamo, yet he was 
so confident that he neglected to post sentries during a pre-battle nap. Houston, a man who 
occupied the grey area between domestic and foreign adversary, overran the Mexican forces in 
18 min. Santa Anna fled wearing a Texan army private’s uniform, but was recognized and cap-
tured. Upon fear of execution, Santa Anna shared his Yorkino bonafides with Houston, a fellow 
mason, then handed Houston an apron he was wearing under the uniform. They were both 
Freemasons, and the apron was Santa Anna’s proof. Houston quickly moved his captured relative 
to better quarters and wrote to his superiors attempting to justify why he spared him: ‘Santa 
Anna living, can be of incalculable benefit to Texas; Santa Anna dead, would just be another 
dead Mexican’.28

Santa Anna signed a treaty with the Texans to keep Mexican forces south of the Rio Grande, 
but the validity of a treaty signed by a prisoner was doubtful, so Houston asked U.S. President 
Andrew Jackson for assistance. Jackson knew the rumors about Santa Anna’s reputation for deal-
ing (and self-dealing), so he ordered Santa Anna to Washington DC. After Santa Anna completed 
the three month journey, Jackson invited him to the White House. When Jackson realized Santa 
Anna was a fellow Freemason, they made a secret deal grounded by their newly recognized 
brotherhood. Santa Anna would part with Texas for $50 million in cash. Santa Anna had one 
condition: ‘There is a considerable number of slaves in Texas also, who according to our laws 
should be free. Shall we permit those wretches to moan in chains any longer in a country whose 
kind laws protect the liberty of man without distinction of cast or color?’ Jackson made a 
counter-offer: He’d secure passage for Santa Anna to Mexico City and help restore his honor and 
title. Santa Anna accepted. Jackson gave Santa Anna two chests of gold and a warship for safe 
passage home.29

While Santa Anna found new allies to the north, Mexico normalized relations with their for-
mer colonizer. It took seven years from Santa Anna’s defeat of Barradas for Spain to formally 
recognize Mexico’s independence. When the Santa María Calatrava treaty was signed in 1836, 
Spain considered Mexico as a barrier against American expansionism. Spanish moderates warned 
that if United States defeated Mexico they would expand to Cuba and the Caribbean, at Spanish 
expense. Santa Anna agreed, and used Spanish diplomacy as a counterbalance to British and 
French influence due to their historical ties and shared interests. Both the Mexican and Spanish 
governments saw the United States as a formidable adversary that sought to extend its domin-
ion and influence across North America.30

In 1839, Spanish Ambassador Ángel Calderón de la Barca and his wife Fanny arrived in Mexico. 
They had come from the United States, where Ángel had served as Plenipotentiary Minister, and 
where he met his spouse, who belonged to a declining Scottish noble family. Calderón de la 
Barca found a widespread opinion about federalism and democracy in Mexico, and that Santa 
Anna was the only one that most citizens thought capable of leading the country. General 
Gabriel Valencia, spokesman for the Mexican political class, told him:31

--A strong government is necessary. This cannot be a federation because each state would be a vassal state; 
it cannot be a central Republic due to its vast extent; “Santa Anna is the only man who can save us" and I 
have heard this repeated ad nauseam, even by people employed in the government, predicting a pro-
nouncement that, although possible, may take some time to materialize because it is so close.32
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Meanwhile, Calderón de la Barca negotiated for Spanish subjects to be able to acquire real 
estate, for the mercury brought by Spain on ships to have a tax discount, and to waive the 15% 
increase in import duties on goods entering Mexico. Calderón de la Barca aimed to equalize the 
conditions of Spanish subjects with those of the British, and he unsuccessfully attempted to ally 
with his British counterpart Richard Pakenham to achieve this.33

Although Santa Anna ‘was always more Hispanophile than Hispanophobe’, and although he 
did regale the Calderóns with a splendid meal, their relationship was not as close as with his 
predecessors. Calderón de la Barca did not like Santa Anna, calling him a ‘tirano ranchero’ in his 
diary. Their relationship was a rare case when Santa Anna held a foreigner at arms length, often 
refusing to meet. Yet, his wife Fanny was enthralled by Santa Anna, offering a comprehensive 
outsider assessment in her diary illustrating Santa Anna’s charisma, caudillo tendencies, and influ-
ence from outside Mexico:34

A gentlemanly, good-looking, quietly-dressed, rather melancholy-looking person…and to us the most inter-
esting person in the group. (K)noting nothing of his past history, one would have said a philosopher, living 
in dignified retirement—one who had tried the world, and found that all was vanity. (However) it is strange, 
how frequently this expression of philosophic resignation, of placid sadness, is to be remarked on the coun-
tenances of the deepest, most ambitious, and most designing men….Otherwise, he made himself very 
agreeable, spoke a great deal of the United States, and of the persons he had known there, and in his 
manners was quiet and gentlemanlike, and altogether a more polished hero than I had expected to see….
Yet here sat with this air de philosophy perhaps one of the worst men in the world—ambitious of power—
greedy of money—and unprincipled—having feathered his nest at the expense of the republic—and waiting 
in a dignified retreat on till the moment comes for putting himself at the head of another revolution.35

Amidst economic hardship, Santa Anna’s goal to be seen as Mexico’s destiny began to take 
root. To wit, the Calderóns went to the theatre for a celebration in honor of Santa Anna:

The ridiculousness of introducing horses and triumphal carriages into such a small space. Some shouted 
long live Santa Anna when he entered, but he was received very coldly. As he climbed the stairs, he recog-
nized and greeted me and my wife affably, (yet) now he seemed to me a more ignorant and vain man. 
Without a doubt, he has plans for domination; for that reason, I believe him capable of carrying them out.36

The Spanish government removed Calderón in 1841 for belonging to a rival political faction. 
He was replaced by Pedro Pascual de Oliver, a progressive member of the Spanish Senate from 
1837 to 1838. He was closer to Santa Anna, as they met on several occasions and advised Santa 
Anna after his rise to power in October 1841 after defeating and deposing Anastasio Bustamante.37 
Oliver mentioned a conversation regarding Texas:

So the General (Santa Anna), whose character is impetuous and proud, told me that he had formed the firm 
resolution of not being the toy of foreigners or factions, and of making the greatest sacrifices in defense of 
the honor and interests of his country, for which purpose he was actively working to raise an army of fifty 
thousand men.38

Oliver acknowledged the ‘decorum with which General Santa Anna has conducted himself’ 
regarding a proposal by the Texan government to pay five million pesos for ceding Texan terri-
tory.39 Santa Anna told Oliver he would resume the reconquest of Texas, as it was:

a vital issue for the Republic, as (Santa Anna) considers the usurpation of that territory, carried out by the 
Anglo-American settlers that the Mexican Government allowed to establish there, as a prelude to further 
dismemberment in favor of the United States whose policy since the time of President Monroe tends to 
extend its dominions towards the beautiful regions that produce gold and silver, so coveted by those greedy 
Republicans.40

Furthermore, U.S. President John Tyler, a Jackson acolyte, expanded the vision of Manifest 
Destiny to include more of Mexico, so Santa Anna felt it necessary to defend Texas before 
catastrophe. He entered negotiations with American minister Waddy Thompson, who offered to 
reintegrate Texas into Mexico.41 Oliver relates that Santa Anna wanted:
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Texas to recognize the sovereignty of Mexico and obey its laws, in which case he promised not to send 
Mexican troops to that department and to entrust its government to the same Samuel Houston who is its 
current president. I cannot predict the outcome of this negotiation, but the fact is that it exists, hitherto 
unknown outside the palace, as I presume.42

An armistice was agreed between Mexico and Texas. Oliver claims that British consul Percy 
Doyle convinced Santa Anna and Houston to accept it. However, Oliver asserted that the Texans 
were not sincere and only sought a pause. Drawing upon these experiences, Santa Anna learned 
the art of projecting a pleasing narrative on Texas to foreigners with many different opinions and 
aims, while holding his own intentions close to the chest.43

In addition, recent research on the Mexico-UK relationship suggests new ways of understand-
ing their ties, as deals between Santa Anna, UK envoys and English businessmen favored the 
British. In particular, Mexican silver allowed ‘the operation of (England’s) empire and trade’ while 
not benefiting Mexico. The relationship was not solely of economic exploitation but also of polit-
ical leverage as the British tried to ‘directly or indirectly determine Mexico’s internal policies’, and 
many tried to profit. One was Richard Pakenham; his long stay in the country and British Crown 
ties made him a formidable negotiator, and he supported the Texan cause.44 Carlos María de 
Bustamante narrates:

Mr. Pakenham presented Santa Anna with a sealed letter that had come by the first large and fast English 
steamship that arrived from Havana in Veracruz in three days, touching at New Orleans called the Fort, and 
said that he did not know its contents. Santa Anna read it and saw that General Hamilton was offering him 
five million pesos for the recognition of Texas’ independence, and two hundred thousand for the minister 
who managed this affair. Santa Anna replied with another letter, which was quite polite but reproached him 
for the insult, supposing that (he) was venal and that he was able of selling the interests of the 
homeland.45

Pakenham, with his knowledge of Mexican culture, and Consul Ewen Mackintosh, with his 
rent-seeking schemes, aimed to re-shape Mexican policies, working alongside British officials sta-
tioned in Mexico who conducted illegal trade to compensate for their low salaries. Pakenham 
conceived his mission as a defender of British interests but also as a civilizing enterprise, as when 
he obtained a refusal from Finance Minister Juan de Dios Cañedo to suspend the 15% import 
tax. Pakenham told Angel Calderón de la Barca that although the Crown had not yet ordered 
him to apply a hostile response to the Mexican government, ‘he advises his government to do 
so because he is convinced that coercion and hostile demonstrations are the only means of 
bringing these people to their senses’. In addition to his educational mission, between October 
1842 and April 1844, Pakenham obtained the signing of conventions to guarantee the payment 
of claims by several British lending houses, as with claims from Spain and France.46

The British style of doing diplomatic business through cash ‘gifts’ influenced Santa Anna’s phi-
losophy on corruption. In 1841, English merchants financed Mexican generals, including Santa 
Anna, to establish a commercially-oriented dictatorship and end the 15% import tax, a product 
of the 1839 war with France. The tax was rooted in precarity: the government fell into disarray 
whenever there was an uprising, and a solution lay in increased taxes. This levy was unpopular 
among foreign merchants, and Pakenham first pressed for a six-month grace period before its 
implementation, then asked for the return of taxes that merchants paid when the decree took 
effect. Although Bustamante noticed the discontent that the measure caused, he failed to con-
vince Congress to remove it, and it became the cause of his downfall. Santa Anna, Mariano 
Paredes y Arrillaga, and Gabriel Valencia colluded with the merchants to gain power by making 
a deal with the English to promote a measure by which ‘foreigners could acquire real estate’, 
albeit under Mexican jurisdiction.47

Despite Santa Anna’s attempts to present himself as incorruptible, financier Manuel Julián 
Lizardi claimed to have bribed Santa Anna and his ministers with a large sum of money to obtain 
a better rate on the Mexican bonds he was negotiating. Yet, Santa Anna continued to refuse to 
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recognize Texas’ independence in exchange for cash even as the offers (and rebellions) grew. In 
fact, he took the opposite tack. On 25 August 1842, Santa Anna decreed the death penalty for 
any soldier who deserted on a large march to the border to re-secure Texas. Not even Lord 
Palmerston’s proposal, which offered Santa Anna the guarantee of a fixed border between Mexico 
and Texas supported by France and England in 1844, made him change his mind. To Santa Anna, 
the time neared when the relationships he carefully cultivated with European and North American 
foreigners would need to be leveraged for the sake of his country’s survival—and perhaps 
his own.48

Santa Anna as a foreign policy vessel: executing leverage 1845–1847

Santa Anna planned to re-capture Texas in 1845 to prove he wasn’t ‘a toy of foreigners or fac-
tionists, and to make the greatest sacrifices in defense of the honor and interests of his country’. 
But fighting the United States would require significant international allies. Spanish Minister 
Pascual Oliver became Santa Anna’s trusted foreign intermediary. Oliver claimed that Santa Anna 
planned to occupy Texas in the spring of 1845 with an army of ‘15,000 men and 40 pieces of 
artillery’. He then stated that Santa Anna’s Texas plan consisted of dividing it into portions that 
he would offer ‘to the friendly nations of Mexico to colonize, provided that they guarantee the 
integrity of that border’.49 As the conflict worsened, Santa Anna approached the envoys of 
England and Spain. In August 1844, the British envoy explained the impossibility of reintegrating 
Texas into Mexico. He lamented that the advice ‘has not yet produced any effect on the mind of 
General Santa Anna, but England will insist, and the bad luck of this country may want him to 
listen (before he) will end up ruining the nation’.

Santa Anna’s stubbornness seemed to lead towards an inevitable clash, but he would not be 
responsible for the start of hostilities, as a pronouncement in November 1844 forced him to go 
into exile in Havana.50 Oliver became Santa Anna’s important interlocutor in Cuba, listening to 
concerns about the situation in Texas and the fear of American invasion. Oliver and the British 
envoy tried to influence Santa Anna to no success on such a personal and controversial matter. 
Santa Anna’s hurt pride from his responsibility for the Texan victory, the political cost of accept-
ing the independence of that territory, and his blind faith in achieving its reincorporation through 
a military campaign all contributed.

After a year in exile, Mexican federalist politicians agreed that Santa Anna should become the 
leader of the resistance against US invasion. During the time he was in Havana, Santa Anna also 
established communications with US President James Polk. In these months, the US army estab-
lished positions in the north of Mexico and blocked the port of Veracruz. Through Polk’s envoy, 
Alexander Slidell Mackenzie, Santa Anna convinced Polk to allow him passage to Mexican soil. 
Once in power, Santa Anna promised to sign an agreement to peacefully cede Texas. However, 
upon arriving home, Santa Anna instead organized an army to repel the invaders. For the remain-
der of the conflict Santa Anna fought the United States and refused negotiations, even those to 
his personal benefit, unlike other Mexican politicians who profited when Mexico City was con-
quered and they negotiated peace.51

When Santa Anna began his participation in the Mexican-American War, he was more com-
passionate towards American prisoners compared to his previous treatment of Texans, whom he 
executed as traitors. He did this to secure release of Mexicans in U.S. custody, and to avoid 
retaliation against populations that were in enemy hands. This attitude carried over in a cordial 
relationship with General Zachary Taylor. Their correspondence was kind and respectful, even as 
Santa Anna repeatedly demanded U.S. withdrawal: ‘I reduce myself to saying, that by the spirit 
and determination shown by all Mexicans, Your Excellency should dismiss any idea of peace as 
long as a single American armed man sets foot on the territory of this Republic, and the squad-
rons that harass our ports remain in front of them’.52
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Spanish plenipotentiary minister Salvador Bermúdez de Castro’s correspondence is essential to 
understanding Santa Anna’s mindset in the face of the American invasion. Santa Anna tried to 
convince Bermúdez de Castro to obtain a guarantee from Spain to intervene in the War with the 
United States in favor of Mexico by any means possible. The minister explains their relationship: 
‘Pretending or having the greatest deference and confidence in me, he consults me, attends to 
me, and does not miss an opportunity to express affection and sympathy for Spain’. The American 
invasion provoked a xenophobic sentiment in the population that not only targeted Americans, 
but also Europeans. Austrian Carl Bartholomaeus Heller, who was visiting the country at that 
time, shared his feelings:53

All the troops that Mexico had left in the cities for the security of property are sent against the enemy, and 
while I write this letter, Santa Anna, with some divisions of infantry and cavalry, unexpectedly goes to San 
Luis Potosí, without my understanding what damage he thinks he can cause there to the enemy, since it is 
much further north. Now the goods and properties of foreigners and natives are in the hands of the lowest 
of the people, and if it was already bad before, now the most cynical thieves and murderers swarm the 
streets. Also, hatred towards foreigners, which seemed to be asleep, is growing stronger every day. Last 
night, near the Plaza del Volador, a cry was heard: "Death to the invading foreigners", so no sympathy for 
America can be shown if one wants to have a safe life.54

Santa Anna asked Bermúdez whether it was possible for France and England to join the conflict, 
to which he replied that they wouldn’t take an active part, but would intervene to the extent pos-
sible to restore peace. The plenipotentiary minister received with incredulity Santa Anna’s flattery 
and offers towards Spain, given his reputation ‘whose bravery is always suspicious in a man who 
passes for a model of falsehood and dissimulation’. By end May 1847, with several defeats and a 
failed rebellion attempt, Santa Anna confessed that ‘he knew the difficulty of continuing the war 
with any hope of advantage’, but the accusations of treason forced him to reject any peace pro-
posal, at enormous personal risk. Bermúdez acknowledged that no politician or military man of the 
time had Santa Anna’s gifts, not to mention that they were ‘more ignorant and inept than him’.55

Shortly before the Americans attacked Mexico City, Santa Anna shared with the Spanish pleni-
potentiary minister his plans to end the Federation, placing loyal military men in command of all 
the country’s generals, and then becoming a dictator. He added that in the event of a quick 
defeat of the Mexican army, he wouldn’t mind ceding Alta California, but he would defend a limit 
established at the Colorado River or the Nueces River, asking France, England, and Spain to guar-
antee those limits.56 We cannot know if Santa Anna’s words were sincere, or if it was to sound 
out support on a dictatorship from European powers. One can sense his desperation due to his 
defeats, lack of national unity, and the precariousness of how failing to build a victorious force 
damaged his image. After the defeats at Padierna and Churubusco, Santa Anna negotiated an 
armistice with Winfield Scott on 21 August 1847. As Santa Anna considered Bermúdez an impar-
tial advisor, he asked which path he should follow. Bermúdez was decisive: he fell ‘in favor of 
ending the war’. The response did not resonate with Santa Anna, who continued the campaign 
until Mexico City fell and he absconded.57

The defeat had a lasting impression on Santa Anna’s belief in the value of democracy. 
Bermúdez explains: ‘After these detailed explanations that I listened to with the deepest atten-
tion, General Santa Anna asked me if I judged the country’s opinion disposed for a change that 
would end the federation. ‘This cannot subsist’, he said to me, ‘the states do not obey the federal 
government; they deny it all kinds of resources, oppress the people with unbearable exactions, 
and waste their time fighting amongst themselves…instead of repelling the invaders’. But what 
do you put in place of the federation? I asked him, the dictatorship? ‘This is the only remedy for 
now’, he replied, ‘a strong government is indispensable, a purely military government that reor-
ganizes the country, that blinds the sources of demoralization, that restores order in this nation 
that is falling apart, and then we will see what needs to be done for its stability, because all 
these plans are precarious and ephemeral’.58
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The war against the United States meant the most difficult test in Santa Anna’s career. He 
knew the precarious conditions of his army and lack of support from the population and from 
the states of the Mexican federation. The military, political and economic obstacles forced him to 
seek help from allies abroad to end the conflagration without more losses of life and with a way 
out other than the acquisition of the northern territories by the United States. The closeness with 
the Spanish plenipotentiary minister Bermúdez de Castro, who served as a moral and support 
and confidant, expresses such a need. Santa Anna waffled between unsuccessful plans for 
European countries to intervene in his favor, and the establishment of an authoritarian regime 
that would give him the capacity for power to compensate for the disunity among Mexicans. The 
war ended badly for Santa Anna as his reputation took the main responsibility for the defeat, 
even though he resisted as long as he could and did not sign the agreements that cut off 
Mexican territory.

Conclusion: a patriotic caudillo?

The existence of a caudillo in a country with weak institutions does not imply that Santa Anna 
had total control of the government or society. His power was based on charisma, popular sup-
port, his ability to ally with key international actors, and military success. Santa Anna strength-
ened his position by becoming a middleman for foreign governments, travelers and merchants; 
and for defeating a European power. The fascination that Santa Anna aroused in foreigners did 
not always produce bargaining power or favors, but it legitimized his preponderant place within 
the army and public, be it as president or dictator. The triumph against Barradas in 1829 and his 
fight against the French in 1838 in the so-called ‘Guerra de los Pasteles’ catapulted his figure to 
a national hero called upon to solve the country’s problems. During the 1840s, Santa Anna did 
not obtain overt support from Europe against the United States or solve the problem of Texas, 
but he did use English financing to overthrow Anastasio Bustamante in 1841 and become pres-
ident. In this way, we gathered small pieces that reveal how Santa Anna blended his personal 
interests with those of his homeland as he rose through the military and to President. In this 
process he projected a symbiotic promise to Mexican citizens: if Santa Anna won, Mexico would 
win too. Few other Mexican generals or politicians placed themselves in the first line of defense 
against foreign aggression, yet Santa Anna often did so, even when to the detriment of his 
finances and his physical integrity.

In this article we aimed to link Santa Anna’s role as caudillo with a less studied perspective: 
the relationship he maintained with foreigners as part of his political strategy. Our insights aimed 
to build on previous works that employed other perspectives on documents already published 
and available in compilations as sources for the study of Santa Anna, in addition to incorporating 
new material. The way in which we relate, gather and analyze Spanish, Cuban and Prussian sub-
jects documents, allowed us to understand that Santa Anna used, in addition to war, diplomacy, 
deceit and alliances as means to achieve his political and personal objectives. During the period 
of study, perhaps our most interesting findings were that his personal desires overlapped or 
coincided with the interests of the country to a much greater degree than has been commonly 
assumed or articulated.
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